
222

EXTRAORDINARY
COUNCIL MEETING

Wednesday, 19th October, 
2016 at 6.00 pm

Council Chamber - Civic Centre

This meeting is open to the public

Members of the Council

The Mayor – Chair 

The Sheriff  – Vice-chair

Leader of the Council

Members of the Council (See overleaf)

Contacts

Service Director, Legal and Governance
Richard Ivory
Tel 023 8083 2794
Email: richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk

Senior Democratic Support Officer
Judy Cordell
Tel: 023 8083 2766
Email: judy.cordell@southampton.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

mailto:mark.heath@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:judy.cordell@southampton.gov.uk


2

WARD COUNCILLOR WARD COUNCILLOR

Bargate Bogle
Noon
Dr Paffey

Millbrook Denness
Furnell
Taggart

Bassett L Harris
Hannides
B Harris

Peartree Houghton
Keogh
Lewzey

Bevois Barnes-Andrews
Burke
Rayment

Portswood Claisse
O'Neill
Savage

Bitterne Jordan
Letts
Murphy

Redbridge McEwing
Pope
Whitbread

Bitterne Park Fuller
Inglis
White

Shirley Chaloner
Coombs
Kaur

Coxford Morrell
D Thomas
T Thomas

Sholing J Baillie
Hecks
Wilkinson

Freemantle Moulton
Parnell
Shields

Swaythling Mintoff
Painton
Vassiliou

Harefield P Baillie
Fitzhenry
Laurent

Woolston Mrs Blatchford
Hammond
Payne



3

PUBLIC INFORMATION
Role of the Council
The Council comprises all 48 Councillors. The Council normally meets six times a year including the 
annual meeting, at which the Mayor and the Council Leader are elected and committees and sub-
committees are appointed, and the budget meeting, at which the Council Tax is set for the following 
year. 
The Council approves the policy framework, which is a series of plans and strategies recommended by 
the Executive, which set out the key policies and programmes for the main services provided by the 
Council.  It receives a summary report of decisions made by the Executive, and reports on specific 
issues raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee.  The Council also considers 
questions and motions submitted by Council Members on matters for which the Council has a 
responsibility or which affect the City.

PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT
Questions:- People who live or work in the City may ask questions of the Mayor, Chairs of Committees 
and Members of the Executive. (See the Council’s Constitution ref Part 4 Council Procedure Rules 
10.8)
Petitions:- At a meeting of the Council any Member or member of the public may present a petition 
which is submitted in accordance with the Council’s scheme for handling petitions. Petitions containing 
more than 1,500 signatures (qualifying) will be debated at a Council meeting.  (See the Council’s 
Constitution ref Part 4 Council Procedure Rules 10.1)
Representations:- At the discretion of the Mayor, members of the public may address the Council on 
any report included on the agenda in which they have a relevant interest. Any member of the public 
wishing to address the meeting should advise the Democratic Support Officer (DSO) whose contact 
details are on the front sheet of the agenda. 
Deputations:-A deputation of up to three people can apply to address the Council.  A deputation may 
include the presentation of a petition.  (See the Council’s Constitution ref Part 4 Council Procedure 
Rules 10.7)

MEETING INFORMATION
Use of Social Media:- The Council supports the video or audio recording of meetings open to the 
public, for either live or subsequent broadcast. However, if, in the Chair’s opinion, a person filming or 
recording a meeting or taking photographs is interrupting proceedings or causing a disturbance, under 
the Council’s Standing Orders the person can be ordered to stop their activity, or to leave the meeting.
By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of those images and 
recordings for broadcasting and or/training purposes. The meeting may be recorded by the press or 
members of the public.
Any person or organisation filming, recording or broadcasting any meeting of the Council is responsible 
for any claims or other liability resulting from them doing so.
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the recording of meetings is available on the Council’s website.

Mobile Telephones – Please switch your mobile telephones to silent whilst in the meeting. 

Southampton City Council’s Priorities:

 Jobs for local people
 Prevention and early intervention 
 Protecting vulnerable people
 Affordable housing

 Services for all
 City pride
 A sustainable Council

Access – Access is available for disabled people.  Please contact the Council Administrator who will 
help to make any necessary arrangements 



4

Smoking policy – The Council operates a no-smoking policy in all civic buildings

Fire Procedure – In the event of a fire or 
other emergency, a continuous alarm will 
sound and you will be advised by Council 
officers what action to take.

Proposed dates of meetings
(Municipal year 2016/17)

2016 2017
20 July 15 February (Budget)
21 September 15 March
16 November 17 May (AGM)

CONDUCT OF MEETING
FUNCTIONS OF THE COUNCIL BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED
The functions of the Council are set out 
in Article 4 of Part  2 of the Constitution

Only those items listed on the attached agenda may be 
considered at this meeting.

RULES OF PROCEDURE QUORUM
The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of 
the Constitution.

The minimum number of appointed Members required to 
be in attendance to hold the meeting is 16.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, both the 
existence and nature of any “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” or “Other Interest” they may have in 
relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda.

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter 
that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as husband or wife, or a person with 
whom they are living as if they were a civil partner in relation to: 
(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.
(ii) Sponsorship: Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
Southampton City Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expense 
incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. This includes 
any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.
(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which the you / your 
spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council under which goods or services 
are to be provided or works are to be executed, and which has not been fully discharged.
(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton.
(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of Southampton for a 
month or longer.
(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council and the tenant 
is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests.
(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of Southampton, and either:

a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body, or

b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest that exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.



5

Other Interests
A Member must regard himself or herself as having an, ‘Other Interest’ in any membership of, or  
occupation of a position of general control or management in:
Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City Council
Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature
Any body directed to charitable purposes
Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy

Principles of Decision Making
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:-

 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);

 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;

 respect for human rights;

 a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency;

 setting out what options have been considered;

 setting out reasons for the decision; and

 clarity of aims and desired outcomes.
In exercising discretion, the decision maker must:

 understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law;

 take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority as a 
matter of legal obligation to take into account);

 leave out of account irrelevant considerations;

 act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good;

 not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as the 
“rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle);

 comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual basis.  Save 
to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward funding are unlawful; 
and

 act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness.



6

Service Director, Legal and Governance
Richard Ivory
Civic Centre, Southampton, SO14 7LY

Tuesday, 11 October 2016

TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the COUNCIL to be held on WEDNESDAY, 
19TH OCTOBER, 2016 in the COUNCIL CHAMBER CIVIC CENTRE at 6:00pm when the 
following business is proposed to be transacted:-   

1  APOLOGIES    

To receive any apologies.
 

2  ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE MAYOR AND LEADER    

Matters especially brought forward by the Mayor and the Leader.
 

3  MOTIONS    

(a) Councillor Pope to move:

Council agrees that a local poll under S.116 of the Local Government Act 2003 of 
Southampton residents will be held on any agreed or imposed devolution deal with 
other local authorities, once the details are known – particularly the financial 
redistribution and governance elements.  
 

4  SOLENT COMBINED AUTHORITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW AND SCHEME    

Report of the Service Director, Legal and Governance in relation to the Combined 
Authority proposal, attached.  
 

5  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC - CONFIDENTIAL PAPERS INCLUDED 
IN THE FOLLOWING ITEM    

To move that in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, specifically the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules contained within the Constitution, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting in respect of any consideration of the confidential appendix 
to the following item.  

Appendix 1 is considered to be confidential, the confidentiality of which is based on 
category 3 of paragraph 10.4 of the Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules.  
In applying the public interest test this information has been deemed exempt from 
publication due to confidential sensitivity.  



7

 
6  PROCUREMENT OF HOUSING RELATED SUPPORT FOR YOUNG PEOPLE AND 

VULNERABLE ADULTS

Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing and Adult Care summarising findings from 
a review of housing related support services and outlining the preferred approach to 
re-tendering these services, to improve access and achieve efficiencies, attached.  
 

Richard Ivory
Service Director, Legal and Governance



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: CABINET
COUNCIL

SUBJECT: SOLENT COMBINED AUTHORITY GOVERNANCE 
REVIEW AND SCHEME

DATE OF DECISION: 19 OCTOBER 2016 (COUNCIL AND CABINET)
REPORT OF: SERVICE DIRECTOR: LEGAL & GOVERNANCE

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Richard Ivory Tel: 023 8083 2794

E-mail: Richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk

Director Name: Dawn Baxendale Tel: 023 8083 4428
E-mail: Dawn.baxendale@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
None

BRIEF SUMMARY
Since 20th July 2016 when this matter was last considered by Council a full 
consultation exercise has been undertaken by the three unitary authorities, 
Southampton, Portsmouth and the Isle of Wight who are proposing a Solent Mayoral 
Combined Authority (SMCA). This report details the consultation responses and 
requires a decision by Cabinet, after consultation with Council, as to whether to 
proceed with the submission to Government of the SMCA.
RECOMMENDATIONS:
1. Council:

That it considers this report and makes such recommendations and 
submissions to Cabinet as it considers appropriate.

2. Cabinet:
Having complied with paragraph 15 of the Council’s Access to Information 
Procedure Rules, Cabinet is recommended to:
(i) Note that a thorough 8 week consultation exercise was undertaken 

across the Isle of Wight, Southampton and Portsmouth council 
areas on the draft Governance Review and the Draft Scheme.

(ii) Note that the consultation results (Appendix 3) confirmed support 
for the three authorities working together to achieve devolution 
from central government through a mayoral combined authority.

(iii) Publish the Scheme and Review, and submit a request to the 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government to 
establish a Solent Combined Authority (such a submission will be 
dependent on the other two Councils also resolving to publish the 
final Scheme and review).

(iv) Resolve that if a decision is made to make a submission to the 
Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Secretary of State, that Cabinet approve the Governance Review 
(appendix 1), revised scheme (appendix 2), and the consultation 
responses, and include these as part of the submission to the 
Secretary of State. 

(v) Resolve that if a submission to the Secretary of State is made, that 
the Chief Executive, after consultation with the Leader of the 
Council, be given delegated authority to negotiate the final terms of 
an Order to establish a Solent Mayoral Combined Authority 
alongside colleagues from the Isle of Wight Council and 
Portsmouth City Council.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. This report is submitted for consideration as a General Exception under 

paragraph 15 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
City Council’s Constitution, notice having been given to the Chair of the 
relevant Scrutiny Panel and the public

2. In order to comply with tight timelines to ensure the three authorities are in a 
position to submit a comprehensive case to the Government extraordinary 
meetings of both Council and Cabinet are necessary to consider this 
proposal. This has necessitated in the matter being treated as a Regulation 
15 exception and placed on the Forward Plan as soon as possible.

3. There are significant benefits for Southampton City Council and the wider 
Solent area in agreeing an ambitious devolution deal with central 
government. To access such a deal we need to undertake a process that 
would enable the creation of a Mayoral Combined Authority. The 
recommendations would allow for Southampton City Council to fulfil this 
requirement. A report would be brought back to Cabinet with the results of 
the subsequent work with Government. The other Unitary Authorities are 
simply reporting. 

4. The core test, that is:
Would the establishment of a combined authority be likely to 
improve the exercise of the powers and functions described in 
the Review and its accompanying documents (in this instance, 
the Scheme) in relation to the areas of the proposed combined 
authority,

is demonstrably satisfied by the findings and conclusions described in the 
Review (as informed by the responses to the consultation). The Review is 
attached as Appendix 1. 

5. The Review includes an analysis of the area to be covered by the Solent 
Combined Authority. It confirmed that the three unitary authorities are a 
clear economic area and together make an internationally recognised 
economic hub. The review recognises that the economic and 
communications inter-dependencies between the cities and the Isle of Wight 
are critical to continued economic success. The review also recognised the 
role that the area of the three authorities play in terms of the marine and 
maritime sector and the high education research with the three universities 
based in their area.

6. The Review looked at the existing governance arrangements and identified 
that the exercise of the relevant economic development, transport and 

Page 2



regeneration functions in relation to the combined area described above, as 
well as the individual local authority areas, was being impeded by a lack of 
connectivity in decision-making, strategy and delivery, in the functional 
areas of economic development, regeneration, and transport. It considered 
alternative options for the better performance of those functions, in the local 
authority areas of Portsmouth, Southampton and Isle of Wight, and the 
combined area, regarding:

 The exercise of statutory functions relating to economic development, 
regeneration and transport in the area;

 The effectiveness and efficiency of transport; and

 The economic conditions in the area.

7. The alternative options considered were examined, including remaining with 
the status quo, establishing a joint committee, establishing an economic 
prosperity board and establishing a mayoral combined authority. It 
concluded that the mayoral combined authority was the best option. This 
was consistent with the consultation results.

8. The Scheme encompasses the proposals contained within the Review, and 
its accompanying draft scheme. In response to feedback received as a 
result of the consultation exercise, the description of the governance 
arrangements, voting rights, respective role of Mayor and Combined 
Authority, and powers have been developed.

9. The recommendations in this report allow a proposal to be made to the 
Secretary of State for him to make a decision about whether or not to 
progress the setting up of the Solent Combined Authority. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
10. The Council has agreed to undertake a consultation in pursuance of 

developing the SMCA proposals. This reports provides the results of this. In 
the circumstances no other alternative has been considered or is 
reasonable.

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
Purpose of Report
11. This report provides Cabinet with the detail of responses made during the 

consultation conducted in relation to the Strategic Governance Review (the 
Review (at Appendix 1)) and the draft Scheme, and proposals for a Mayoral 
Combined Authority (as described in the Review and draft Scheme) and 
invites Cabinet to decide whether the establishment of a combined authority 
would be likely to improve the exercise of statutory functions in relation to 
the area of the combined authority.

12. Subject to its decision, Cabinet is invited to submit the attached Scheme 
(Appendix 2) to the Secretary of State (together with the Review and 
consultation response report (Appendix 3) which incorporates the Solent 
Local Enterprise Partnership consultation of businesses, and also the letters 
received (Appendix 4).  The Scheme incorporates proposals from amongst 
those described in the Review and the draft Scheme, amended in response 
to feedback provided during the Consultation and represents the 
consolidated proposal for a Solent Combined Authority, covering the local 
authority areas of Portsmouth City Council, Southampton City Council and Page 3



the Isle of Wight Council (the Solent Unitary Authorities), as a constituent 
members. Similar reports and recommendations are being considered by 
the Cabinets of Portsmouth City Council (12th October) and Isle of Wight 
Council (24th October).

13. It is for the Secretary of State, before he makes any order establishing a 
combined authority, to satisfy himself that to do so is likely to improve the 
exercise of statutory functions in the areas to which the order relates (and 
the other considerations described in the legal comments within the report).  
The Secretary of State will carry out a public consultation unless he is 
satisfied that no further consultation is necessary in the light of the 
consultation already carried out in connection with the proposals contained 
in the Scheme. 

14. Any order establishing the combined authority will also require the consent 
of the constituent authorities.  It is anticipated that the submission of the 
Scheme to the Secretary of State will lead to a period of discussion about 
the detail of what is proposed. 

15. Where a submission to the Secretary of State is approved, the report seeks 
a delegation to the Chief Executive to take all actions necessary to make the 
submission and any further actions that arise.

Background
16. Council has received several reports, namely on 16th September 2015, 16th 

December 2015, 16th March 2016 and on 20th July 2016 regarding the 
Combined Authority proposals. The last two reports gave the background to 
the negotiation of a draft devolution deal for the Solent area and the actions 
that had been undertaken to that point. The report explained that the 
decision to negotiate a Solent Deal arose once it became clear that, 
because of the complex governance arrangements, it was not possible to 
conclude a Hampshire & Isle of Wight deal. The draft deal for the Solent 
area included a commitment to set up a Mayoral Combined Authority. The 
July report explained the process that would need to be followed to set up 
such a body for the three unitary authorities of Isle of Wight Council, 
Southampton City Council and Portsmouth City Council. The report 
explained that it was not possible to create a Combined Authority that 
included the Solent District Councils without the agreement of Hampshire 
County Council and that such agreement was not forthcoming. It is 
considered beneficial to be in the early sets of deals due to both the scope 
of the deals and the likely further engagement by Government with areas 
that have agreed deals.

17. The process described in the report included:

 Undertaking a Governance Review which looked at whether different 
governance options would help improve the exercise of certain 
statutory functions;

 Developing a draft Scheme which describes how the Combined 
Authority would work in practice;

 Undertaking a full consultation exercise on the review and the draft 
scheme

18. At the meeting on 16th March 2016 Council considered the Governance 
Review and agreed with the conclusion that the setting up of a Combined Page 4



Authority would likely improve the exercise of relevant statutory functions in 
the area.  Further, on 20th July 2016 Council and Cabinet both considered 
the matter further and Cabinet resolved to endorse the findings of the Solent 
Governance Review and its conclusion that in principle a Mayoral Combined 
Authority is in the best interests of Southampton; approve, in draft, the 
Solent Combined Authority Governance Scheme for consultation; and 
delegate to the Chief Executive any actions necessary to fulfil the 
resolutions in the report.  The Isle of Wight Council and Portsmouth City 
Council made similar decisions. With the approval of all three Councils a 
thorough eight week programme of public consultation on the review and 
scheme commenced on 22nd July 2016. 

19. The three Solent unitary authorities undertook the same process detailed 
above at their various July meetings. Subject to approval at the respective 
Cabinets / Executives, a proposal could now be made to the Secretary of 
State to request the establishment a Solent Combined Authority. This 
proposal would include the finalised review and Published Scheme and also 
the consultation results and letters of support. The finalised review and 
scheme take account of the outcomes of the consultation exercise. The 
Secretary of State will consider the proposal and also consider whether or 
not he believes that the consultation that has been undertaken by the three 
Councils has been sufficient. It will be up to the Secretary of State to decide 
whether or not to start the discussions about the nature of the legislative 
order that would need to be laid before Parliament to establish a Solent 
Combined Authority. If the Secretary of State considers that the consultation 
undertaken by the three councils is inadequate, he may either instruct that 
further consultation is undertaken or may undertake that consultation 
himself. It is worthy of note that the levels of engagement and response 
achieved by the three Solent councils far exceeds that achieved in other 
areas that have been successful in securing a devolution deal and 
establishing a Combined Authority.

20. In most parts of the Country a consultation exercise for the establishment of 
a Combined Authority follows on from the announcement of a devolution 
deal with Government. This is not the case in the Solent where although a 
draft deal was agreed with Government in March, it did not get formally 
announced because of the change of position by Hampshire County 
Council. Government have indicated that the terms of the deal remain the 
same, that the deal is still on the table for the three Solent unitary authorities 
and there is a hope that if the Solent unitary authorities were to submit a 
proposal to the Secretary of State to create a Solent Combined Authority, 
that the deal may yet be announced as part of the Autumn Statement on 
23rd November 2016.

21. As previously outlined to Members, the draft deal provides significant 
opportunities for authorities in the Solent area, although as part of the deal 
the Government's expectation is that the three authorities would agree to 
undertake a process that if followed through would set up a Combined 
Authority with a Directly Elected Mayor (DEM). In other words the 
establishment of a Mayoral Combined Authority is a pre-requisite and would 
form the primary delivery vehicle for the deal. The draft deal includes: 

 £900m funding for the area over 30 years (£30m p.a.) to invest in 
economic growth and housing (and the enabling infrastructure).

Page 5



 Keeping all business rates generated in the area, including any 
growth in business rates, and exiting the current system of 
government funding for local councils - meaning the area would have 
better control of its own financial future and piloting the new approach.

 Powers over strategic planning, such as future spatial plans.

 Increasing productivity and creating more jobs and better jobs by 
simplifying and strengthening support for business growth, innovation, 
global trade and investment.

 Control of the budget for adult education and training in the area, 
enabling a focus on the skills businesses want people to have, 
therefore people get jobs and businesses prosper.

 Development of a new programme to help the hardest to help 
claimants back into work and provide them with support.

 Delivering 52,000 homes in the area by 2026 (this was the number in 
the published deal for the eight Solent planning authorities).

 Control of a dedicated transport budget, the opportunity for franchised 
bus services and control of the key network of local authority roads.

 Innovative and integrated approaches to public service reform, 
including health.

22. As part of the Scheme the three Solent Unitary Authorities have provided for 
the Solent Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to be a non-constituent 
member of the Combined Authority with full voting rights on matters related 
to the LEP remit.  Also, that if Hampshire County Council maintain its 
opposition to being a fully participatory member of the Combined Authority 
the Leaders have said that they will invite Hampshire County Council and 
the Solent Districts to join the Combined Authority as non-constituent 
members and non-voting members. The Leaders have also agreed that 
pending any election for a DEM and subject to agreement at the Combined 
Authority, the position of interim Mayor would be filled by the unitary 
Leaders on a six monthly rotating basis.

23. Hampshire County Council (HCC) was one of the respondents in the pre-
consultation phase and also submitted a detailed response at the end of the 
consultation period which challenges the approach adopted by the three 
unitary authorities. The points made by HCC have been considered and are 
addressed as appropriate in the consultation report attached as Appendix 3. 
The detailed critique offered by HCC (which is set out in full at Appendix 4) 
was taken into account among other consultation responses, and in 
reviewing the proposals, Review, and in producing the scheme. The 
councils have sought legal advice on the key points raised by HCC. On the 
basis of this legal advice it is not believed that their submission casts any 
doubt upon the lawfulness of making a proposal to the Secretary of State if 
that is what Cabinet/Executive wishes to do. To the extent that HCC 
suggests that existing consultation has been inadequate, that will be a 
matter for the Secretary of State to consider, and to carry out further public 
consultation if that is thought to be required.  However, it is worth in the 
body of this report dealing with some of the specific points raised by HCC

 HCC stated that people could only respond online. This was incorrect. 
Paper copies of the questionnaires were placed in Libraries, in Page 6



Housing Offices and at the Civic Centre, West Quay Shopping Centre 
and community centres. People could also request paper copies, or 
make representations, via the Solent Deal email address.  In total 207 
paper copies of the questionnaire were received and these were all 
included in the analysis. Public meetings were also held and people 
were encouraged to respond using social media.

 HCC is concerned that the consultation did not adequately set out the 
powers to be devolved or the mechanisms for their exercise. The 
consultation pack referred to both the Review and a draft scheme, 
and whilst the consultation questionnaire was brief by its nature, 
consultees were pointed to the website and this had links to the draft 
scheme and draft review, as well as further information about the 
proposals and the reasons for them. Consultees were given an open 
opportunity to comment generally. It is considered that the essential 
nature of the proposals was made sufficiently clear for the purposes of 
consultation. To the extent that the Review and draft Scheme did not 
address or left open certain aspects of exactly how the combined 
authority would operate, then it was open to HCC or any other 
consultee to make representations about how such matters ought to 
be addressed as part of their response to the consultation. The 
consultation in fact attracted a large number of responses for an 
exercise of this nature, as set out in Appendix 3, and it does not 
appear from the consultation report that the great majority of the 
respondents felt that the information provided caused them difficulty in 
responding intelligently to what was proposed.

 HCC believe that the scheme is different from the original Solent Deal 
and that the Solent authorities are consulting on proposals that do not 
have the Government's blessing. There are two considerations here. 
Firstly the Deal document agreed with Government by the eight 
Solent Councils back in March was not a governance scheme and 
had a different number of councils involved. Secondly it will be for the 
Secretary of State to consider whether the scheme proposed by the 
three unitary councils is acceptable to him, and to independently be 
satisfied of the key tests (described in the legal comments, below). 
We have spoken to Government advisors about the consultation and 
the scheme and will continue to discuss with them as the process 
continues but they have not raised any concerns with us.

 HCC also posed a number of questions about the proposals, as set 
out in the Review and draft scheme, including for example, 
governance processes, who will chair the Combined Authority in the 
absence of the DEM or interim Mayor, how decisions will be made, 
and the extent of powers sought for the Combined Authority. These 
provide a useful checklist and have been addressed through the final 
scheme as amended in the light of the consultation results. Full details 
are provided at Appendix 4.

24. There has been considerable local and national speculation that there has 
been a change in Government policy towards Directly Elected Mayors. This 
has been discussed at both political and officer level with Government and 
there is a clear message that there has been no change in policy. It has 
always been possible to have a deal without a DEM but this will not be an 
ambitious deal and would certainly not amount to the deal currently Page 7



envisaged for the Solent.  The Solent deal is considered a very ambitious 
deal and as such there will be a requirement for a DEM.

25. It is important to note that under the Local Government Act 2000 and the 
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 (SI 2000 No 2853 as amended – “the Functions Regulations”) the 
decisions relating to the creation of a Combined Authority are Executive 
decisions not decisions for Full Council.  For this reason Council has 
received regular reports but it is for Cabinet to make the decision. Each of 
the three unitary authorities will be discussing the matter at Full Council 
before taking the decision at their respective Cabinet/Executive.

Consultation
26. The Isle of Wight Council, Portsmouth City Council and Southampton City 

Council undertook consultation regarding proposals to establish a Mayoral 
Combined Authority in the Solent region between 22 July 2016 and 18 
September 2016. The three authorities made a decision to run the 
consultation for over eight weeks from 22 July to 18 September 2016, many 
other consultations on establishing a combined authority have run for six 
weeks. It was felt that this period allowed for any interruption that could be 
caused by the summer holiday season. It also ensured that it ran across 
three calendar months; July, August and September. Appendix 3 outlines 
the full consultation process and the detail of the responses received.  

27. The agreed approach for this consultation was to use a combination of 
online and paper questionnaires as the basis, supported by a range of open 
drop-in sessions, discussion groups, public meetings, a generic email 
address and social media.

28. Particular effort was made to communicate the proposals in a clear and 
easy to understand way. This was achieved by using a clear and informative 
bespoke website to outline the background to the proposals, a Frequently 
Asked Questions (FAQs) document and by dividing the questionnaire into 
themed sections which included key information. All of these documents 
were available at solentdeal.co.uk or in paper copies at libraries and civic 
offices across the three local authority areas. Each of the local authorities’ 
communications departments adopted tailored approaches to suit the 
respective areas and promoted the consultation significantly through a wide 
range of channels.  

29. The consultation questionnaire was the main way that feedback was 
gathered for the Solent Deal consultation. In total 2,531 questionnaires were 
completed, of which 207 were paper copies and 2,324 were completed 
online. This response rate compares favourably with other consultations on 
the establishment of Mayoral Combined Authorities for example the West 
Midlands combined authority (with a population over six times that of the 
Solent) received 1,907 questionnaire responses. Lancashire Combined 
Authority received 500 less questionnaire responses than the Solent 
consultation with over double the population. While the Sheffield City region 
combined authority consultation received 188 more questionnaire responses 
than the Solent consultation but the population of the Sheffield City Region 
is three times that of the Solent region. In total there were 3,867 
engagements with the consultation. 

30. The consultation questionnaire showed that agreement with the principle of 
Page 8



moving power and funding from local government to groups of local 
governments working together was 71% with 32% of respondents strongly 
agreeing. Southampton has the highest level of agreement and those who 
live outside the Solent Deal area have the lowest level of agreement. 

31. Consultees were also asked about their agreement with the principle of the 
Isle of Wight, Portsmouth and Southampton councils and the Solent LEP 
working more closely together. Overall 71% of respondents either agreed or 
strongly agreed. The difference between the locations of participants shows 
Southampton agreement level at 77%, Portsmouth 71%, Isle of Wight 69% 
and outside the area 65%. 

32. The central question of the consultation asked consultees to what extent 
they agreed with the preferred option to create a Solent Mayoral Combined 
Authority as set out in the draft Governance Scheme, the total level of 
agreement with this was 58%. The breakdown of agreement by the local 
authority areas shows that the highest level of agreement is in Southampton 
(64%) and the lowest is Portsmouth (55%) with the Isle of Wight is in the 
middle (57%). 

33. There were a number of open ended questions within the questionnaire 
which enabled consultees to express their views in their own words. In total 
1,533 respondents made a comment of some description and a total of 
5,128 comments have been analysed. The four largest themes that 
emerged through the analysis of these comments were as follows (with 
example of types of comments shown): 
1. Mayor and cabinet

- Just over a quarter of respondents made a comment on this issue 
with 60% of these people against the proposal. People often 
commented that they did not like the concept of a mayor, they 
thought it would add bureaucracy or they were concerned about 
bias

2. Working together practicalities 
- Need for fairness e.g. representing all three areas equally and 

making sure the Isle of Wight wasn’t disadvantaged
- Recognising the different needs of the area
- Issues around conflicts e.g. taking longer to get things through

3. Finances 
- Concerns about it being an extra cost and in particular the costs of 

the extra staff
- Concerns about it being a waste of money

4. Different options 
- In total about 10% of survey respondents said that they preferred 

the status quo
- Work together in a different way e.g. by creating "super" unitary 

authorities
- Exclude some of the proposed members

34. The consultation also gathered views via a range of other channels such as 
face to face events, public meetings, social media, letters and through Page 9



business engagement. The themes that emerged from these broadly 
mirrored the views held by the respondents to the consultation 
questionnaire. 

35. Over the course of the consultation period the Solent LEP engaged with a 
total of 130 organisations from across the region in a range of ways. Most 
businesses are supportive of the proposal to create a Solent Mayoral 
Combined Authority, especially given the focus on economic growth and 
transport. Many business are supportive of the principle and would like to 
continue to be involved if and when the detail of the proposed deal is being 
developed.

36. Overall the consultation has gathered a range of views and feedback on the 
proposals to create a Solent Mayoral Combined Authority from a wide range 
of residents and stakeholders. The majority of respondents are positive 
about devolution and the proposed option, the comments and suggestions 
gathered through the consultation have resulted in a number of changes to 
the draft Governance Scheme which are detailed the section below.

37. A number of key stakeholders, including significant employers and 
businesses, wrote in to give their views on the Solent proposals. General 
letters of support, or otherwise, were not included in the consultation results 
referred to above. Attachments that came with the letters were coded and 
have been included in the consultation results above. For information all of 
these letters, and their attachments, have been attached as Appendix 4. We 
have also included the letters that were received during the pre-consultation 
engagement with key stakeholders when we invited stakeholders to give 
their views on the initial conclusion of our draft governance review - which 
was issued without the accompanying draft Scheme, and was subject to 
minor amendment. Though it is important to note this in considering the 
weight to accord the letters, they are regarded as relevant to this decision.

38. It is particularly welcome that a number of significant businesses in the 
Solent area have welcomed the Solent proposals and also that this was 
confirmed by the Solent LEP who also undertook their own consultation 
process (details attached to their letter at Appendix 4). 

Amendments to review and scheme
39. There is clear support in the consultation results (see section 4) to the 

principle of working together across the three authorities, devolving powers 
from central government and having a Directly Elected Mayor as part of the 
governance arrangements. Accordingly, the Cabinet/Executive is asked to 
approve this review and its conclusion.

40. It is worth noting that in quantitative terms, the consultation received high 
levels of approval with over 70% of respondents favouring devolution, the 
three authorities working together and the areas of activity for devolution 
(supporting businesses to grow, skills and employment, housing and 
infrastructure, and transport) and 58% of respondents agreed with the 
principle of devolving power to a Combined Authority with an elected mayor. 

41. As stated previously respondents were also given the chance to give 
qualitative comments and this was supplemented by discussions at public 
meetings and free standing responses that were received. All of this is 
included in the report at Appendix 3. It is worth noting that these comments, 
by their nature, reflect a minority view with many respondents silent through Page 10



their completion of the questionnaire. However, they do reflect themes 
which have been considered as part of the option appraisal of the 
Governance Review and in the development of the Scheme.  They included:

 Providing clarity about the different functions of the Mayor and the 
Combined Authority - this has been made much more clear in the 
scheme

 No need for additional layer of bureaucracy - the scheme makes 
clear that the aim would be for the three Statutory Officer posts to be 
filled by existing post holders

 Providing clarity about extent of the powers of the Combined 
Authority, and over the respective powers and roles of the Mayor 
and the Combined Authority and how decisions will be made - this 
has been made much more clear in the scheme

 Providing clarity on the relevant geographical areas upon which the 
Combined Authority will focus its work and the relationship of third-
party non-constituent authorities and co-optees to the constituent 
authorities and mayor - the scheme is clear that the area of the 
combined authority is the three unitary authorities and also makes 
clear the role of the non-constituent authorities in the Combined 
Authority

42. Other consultation proposals could either be picked up in future devolution 
deal negotiations (such as other areas of work to devolve like health or the 
emergency services) or are at odds with the quantitative results and the 
draft devolution deal with government (such as no need for an elected 
mayor).

43. The proposals contained in the Review and original draft Scheme have 
been incorporated into the finalised Scheme, with amendments made for the 
purposes of drafting clarity (such as, for example, making it clear that the 
Mayoral Combined Authority should have a power to borrow for any purpose 
related to its functions, and clearly describing the respective roles of Mayor 
and Combined Authority), as a result of consultation feedback (examples 
given above) and the importance of providing clarity as to governance 
arrangements, and the exercise of functions.

Equality and Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA)
44. The council as a public body is required to meet its statutory obligations 

under the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, promote equal opportunities between people from different 
groups and to foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it.  The protected characteristics 
are: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

45. At this stage the decision is seeking to agree to submit a request to the 
Secretary of State for them to consider establishing a combined authority 
and as any proposed combined authority will not directly provide services to 
the community (as it will be a strategic body), however an equality impact 
(and safety) assessment has been undertaken and this shows that there will 
be no direct impact on those with protected characteristics. Should there be 
a change in any actual service delivery as a consequence of the 

Page 11



establishment of a combined authority further Equality Impact Assessment 
wills be undertaken at that time.

46. However, by establishing a formal strategic body that aims to better co-
ordinate the provision of things like housing and transport across the agreed 
area of the final devolution solution this will make it easier for ensuring that 
the concerns and issues of those with protected characteristics are taken 
into account when determining strategies and approaches.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
47. Should a combined authority deal be announced in response to a 

submission, then it is expected that this would be accompanied by £30m per 
annum to support the delivery of homes, enabling infrastructure and 
economic growth across the region. There is a spectrum of ways that the 
additional £30m per annum can be leveraged for both housing and 
economic growth.  At one end of the spectrum, the £30m can be used as 
direct funding for economic growth and housing schemes and allocated on a 
broadly annual (or short term basis). At the other end of the spectrum, the 
combined authority could use the whole £30m to finance up to £500m of 
borrowing to inject a significant capital investment into the area.

48. Furthermore, wise investment of the £30m-£500m would be expected to 
generate economic growth and therefore additional business rates to be 
used to both invest in further growth and support public services. A modest 
1% increase in business rate growth will generate an additional £2.1m. 

49. Additionally, a combined authority deal may provide the opportunity to retain 
100% of Business Rates in advance of the National Scheme to be 
introduced in 2020. This provides the prospect of retaining 100% of any 
uplift in Business Rates growth in the future which can be re-invested in 
both further growth opportunities and sustaining public services. This will 
sharpen the incentive for the combined authority to:

 directly contribute to growth through efficient investments; and

 indirectly create the conditions for growth

50. Under the 100% Business Rates proposal, sustaining high quality public 
services will be directly linked to economic growth and therefore economic 
prosperity of the region. The move to 100% Business Rate retention should 
create better conditions for growth and greater opportunity for sustainable 
public services.

Property/Other
51. None at this stage
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
52. The Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 

prescribed the process and legal tests preparatory to the publication of a 
scheme by the Council, and then the making of an order by the Secretary of 
State.

53. The first stage is to examine the Review. Where it is concluded that the 
Page 12



creation of a combined authority would be likely to improve the exercise of 
the powers and functions described in the Review and its accompanying 
documents (in this instance, the Scheme) in relation to the local authority 
areas of the proposed combined authority, the authorities concerned may 
prepare and publish a scheme for the establishment of that authority.

54. Having concluded that the exercise of the powers and functions would be 
improved, and prepared and published a scheme, the local authorities invite 
the Secretary of State to exercise his/her power to make an order to 
establish the combined authority.

55. In exercising his/her power, the Secretary of State must have regard to the 
Scheme, and where a consultation has been carried out in relation to the 
proposals contained in the Scheme, then the Secretary of State is not 
required to carry out a public consultation, so long as he considers that the 
any previous public consultation is sufficient. Accordingly, therefore, the 
Secretary of State will consider the proposals and consider what 
consultation steps may be required. 

56. As with the Council, the Secretary of State must have regard to:

 the likely effect of the creation of the proposed combined authority 
on the exercise of functions equivalent to those of the proposed 
combined authority's functions in each local government area that is 
next to any part of the proposed combined authority area, and must 
have regard to the need;

 To the need to reflect the identities and interests of local 
communities; and,

 To secure effective and convenient local government.

Other Legal Implications: 
57. None.
POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
58. None.

KEY DECISION? Yes
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices 
1. The Governance Review
2. The revised Scheme
3. Report on the outcome of the consultation
4. Letters of support
5. Equality Impact Assessment

Page 13



Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None.
2.
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) to be carried out.

Yes

Privacy Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Privacy Impact
Assessment (PIA) to be carried out.

No

Other Background Documents
Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for inspection 
at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1.
2.

Page 14



Page 15

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 2



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 3



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 4



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 5



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



DECISION-MAKER: COUNCIL
CABINET

SUBJECT: PROCUREMENT OF HOUSING RELATED SUPPORT 
FOR YOUNG PEOPLE AND VULNERABLE ADULTS

DATE OF DECISION: 19 OCTOBER 2016
19 OCTOBER 2016

REPORT OF: CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING AND ADULT 
CARE

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Sandra Jerrim Tel: 023 8029 6039

E-mail: Sandra.jerrim@southampton.gov.uk

Director Name: Stephanie Ramsey Tel: 023 8029 6923
E-mail: Stephanie.Ramsey@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
Confidential appendix 1 contains information deemed to be exempt from general 
publication based on Category 3 of paragraph 10.4 of the Council’s Access to 
Information Procedure Rules. In applying the public interest test this information has 
been deemed exempt from publication due to confidential sensitivity. 

BRIEF SUMMARY
This report seeks approval of recommendations for the future procurement of Housing 
related Support (HRS) for young people and vulnerable adults. The recommendations 
are put forward following a full and detailed review. The findings from the review 
identify the need to move forward with commissioning new services. It has also 
identified a number of work areas that should be taken forward over the next 2 years.
RECOMMENDATIONS:
 COUNCIL

(i) To approve the recommendation to proceed with a procurement of 
a range of housing related support (HRS) services for young people 
and single adults.

(ii) To delegate authority to the Director of Quality & Integration to carry 
out a procurement process for the provision of HRS services as set 
out in this report and to enter into contracts in accordance with 
contract procedure.

(iii) To delegate authority to the Director of Quality & Integration 
following consultation with the relevant Cabinet Members to decide 
on the final model of commissioned services for HRS and all 
decision making in relation to this re-commissioning.

Page 211

Agenda Item 6



 CABINET
Having complied with paragraph 15 of the Council’s Access to Information Procedure 
Rules.

(i) To support the recommendation to proceed with a procurement of a 
range of HRS services for young people and single adults.

(ii) Subject to Council approval for the procurement exercise, to 
delegate authority to the Director of Quality & Integration to carry out 
a procurement process for the provision of HRS services as set out 
in this report and to enter into contracts in accordance with contract 
procedure.

(iii) Subject to Council agreement to the procurement exercise, to 
delegate authority to the Director of Quality & Integration following 
consultation with the relevant Cabinet Members to decide on the 
final model of commissioned services for HRS and all decision 
making in relation to this re-commissioning.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. This report is submitted for consideration as a General Exception under 

paragraph 15 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
City Council’s Constitution, notice having been given to the Chair of the 
relevant Scrutiny Panel and the Public.

2. Reason for Urgency: The contracts relating to these services are coming to 
an end in April 2017, with an extension sought to June 2017. As they have 
already been extended to enable the reviews to take place, there is an 
urgency in proceeding to procurement to ensure services are in place, with 
appropriate contractual arrangements, within this timescale.

3. There is a requirement to re-commission Housing Related Support (HRS) 
services to comply with procurement rules as the majority of the contracts 
have come to an end and have already been extended. There is an 
opportunity to achieve efficiencies and simplify delivery and access 
arrangements within the current commissioning arrangements for HRS 
services.  

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
4. The review of Housing Related Support considered a number of other 

options which were rejected: 

 To commission the same services without maximising efficiencies or 
savings; this would not provide the most appropriate service and miss 
opportunities for savings. 

 To decommission some service areas (e.g. floating support, or 
hostel): this would achieve some savings but would not address local 
need whilst generating gaps in service provision. There would be 
impact on other services which would off-set any savings.

 To extend all current contracts whilst working on a large scale 
transformation programme: whilst there are areas of best practice 
which could be implemented for the city this would take time to develop 
and an opportunity for improvement in services and realisation of 

Page 212



savings would be delayed.

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
5. As a Council we face unparalleled challenges in reducing our costs, 

increasing income and managing demand for our most expensive services. 
We know that to improve outcomes in this climate, we have to prioritise our 
diminishing resources to deliver key outcomes.  

6. The review focused on outcomes for three client groups, namely for adults, 
young people and for older people. Young people HRS services are all 
commissioned services, as are the majority of single adult HRS services. 
Older person HRS services are a mix of both commissioned and internally 
provided services.   This report contains recommendations relating to 
externally commissioned services arising from the review.

7. The review has also taken into consideration feedback from a wide range of 
stakeholders through a number of different engagement approaches. There 
was no statutory requirement to consult as there will be no significant 
adverse effect on the provision of HRS to service users. The engagement 
ensured a wide range of key stakeholders were involved, with their views 
contributing and shaping the recommendations.   

8. Engagement approaches included events for key stakeholders across adults, 
young people and older person services. Representatives also attended 
landlord forums. A questionnaire was completed by service users of both 
adults and older person services and events were held for young people and 
adult services. Engagement for older person services also included 
discussions at the Pensioners’ Forum, Supported Housing Forum and 
Hospital Discharge team.

9. Representatives from the Council’s Housing Strategy, Children and Families 
and Adult Social Care services have been involved in discussions, 
engagement events or project group meetings.

10. Equality and Safety Impact Assessments have been undertaken for both 
adults and young person’s services and have informed the 
recommendations. The assessments are being regularly updated to reflect 
any new information.   

11. Services that deliver outcomes for young people predominantly provide for 
the age group 16–25 years and include young parents, care leavers and 
those at risk of, or experiencing homelessness. HRS for single adult services 
are provided to those who are homeless, at risk of homelessness as well as 
adults with vulnerabilities arising from mental health, learning or physical 
disability and substance misuse. 1,700 single adults and young people were 
supported through commissioned HRS services in 2014/15, rising to 2,126 in 
2015/16.

12. HRS for older people is predominantly provided to individuals living in a 
range of designated older person accommodation as well as individuals 
living in their own homes.

13. The review has considered the current provision of HRS, the requirement to 
make savings and what actions, if any, are needed. Information and 
evidence was gathered from individual service reviews, literature reviews 
and evidence of national best practice, engagement events, service user Page 213



feedback and a number of wider determinants such as legislation, welfare 
reforms, and access to specialist services and accommodation.

14. A key part of the review was to identify a range of outcomes for young 
people and single adults. These are set out in the relevant commissioning 
intentions but include as a priority the areas outlined below 
For single adults:
 Improved living environment, developed links with communities: social 

(family, friends) and purposeful (employment, training)
 Improved confidence and self-worth and an active participant in 

developing their goals and achieving their outcomes
 Skills and knowledge: improved life skills and knowledge of local services 

relevant to their own circumstances.
 Behaviour:  Individuals are able to resolve presenting issues, identify 

future risks to the security of their housing and seek timely support

For young people: 
 Improvement in independent living skills through; practical skills, financial 

literacy and financial management skills,  social skills
 Improvement in a young person’s pro-social behaviour by reducing anti-

social or offending behaviour.
 Improvements in a young person’s physical, emotional wellbeing and 

mental health.
 Young people achieving through participation in Education, Training and 

Employment and pre-tenancy accreditation.
 Improvement in a young person’s relationships with family and friends.

15. A number of areas were also identified for further work over the next 2 years. 
This includes the need to explore the link between health and housing, the 
core offer for older people, the refinement of outcome monitoring and case 
management and the link between homelessness and substance misuse. 
This work will be taken forward by the Integrated Commissioning Unit (ICU) 
and will lead further transformation and the development of new savings 
proposals. 

16. Findings about the current provision of HRS services for single adults 
includes:
 There continues to be a significant need in the city in relation to 

homelessness and individuals who require supported accommodation or 
support to achieve and maintain a tenancy.

 Current services are generally well thought of and achieve good 
outcomes with individuals and against nationally established targets.

 There needs to be a shift to focus more on person centred approaches 
where the focus is on the individual who is supported by a single 
transferable Support Plan.

 There is a need to work with a wider range of accommodation providers 
and improve links between HRS and specialist services.

 There is some inefficiency in the way services are configured and this 
presents opportunities for improvement and savings.

 A more coordinated access route is needed to minimise voids and Page 214



increase suitable options for all single adults.
 There is a need to improve the support for the most complex and 

vulnerable adults through the use of Collaborative Assessment Panels, 
led by Adult Social Care. The collaborative assessment panel brings 
together a multi-disciplinary meeting that seeks to identify the most 
appropriate support for an individual who does not engage or meet 
current eligibility requirements for any one service. 

 Local Authorities have statutory duties to all adults in relation to 
safeguarding, preventing needs arising and escalating and duties to 
provide information and advice.

 There is a need to examine a number of areas in more detail including, 
but not exclusively, the links between:

o homelessness and substance misuse services
o health and housing for our vulnerable adults
o local offer for entrenched homeless individuals in the city.

17. Stakeholders and service users were not opposed to the proposals. Views 
were expressed about the importance of linking the provision of HRS with a 
wider network of support services for mental health, learning disabilities and 
substance misuse. This is reflected in the proposal to reinstate the use of the 
Collaborative Assessment Panels, led by Adult Social Care.

18. Findings about the current provision of HRS services for young people 
include:
 Progress has been made since the Ofsted Inspection in 2014 and 

services have been renegotiated to address gaps identified in the 
subsequent Action Plan.

 The introduction of a Young People’s Panel has led to improved targeting 
of services to those most at need.

 Demand is already placing pressures on services.
 Local Authorities have a number of duties in relation to young people, in 

particular 16/17 year olds and care leavers who are homeless.
 It is expected that the number of care leavers will increase, therefore there 

needs to be a wider range of provision with support to meet their needs.
 There needs to be more preparation work to enable young people to be 

‘housing ready’ and develop independent life skills. 
A wider range of services are needed to meet the changing situation for 
young people, including impact of benefit restrictions.

19. During the process of engagement there were concerns raised about any 
possible reduction in the level of HRS services available to young people. 
Particular emphasis was placed in the impact any reduction in service might 
have on Children’s services. In response we are not seeking to reduce 
further the level of HRS services available to young people. Also, the 
development of new supported lodgings will be carried out in a planned and 
managed way to ensure there is no negative impact on the provision of HRS 
to young people

20. There are significant changes relating to the future financing of HRS. The 
most important changes are:

1. The application of a cap on Local Housing Allowance (LHA) for the 
rents of supported housing projects.Page 215



2. The potential freezing of LHA rates for the next four years.
3. The roll out of Universal Credit full service in Southampton from 

February 2017.
4. The withdrawal of the automatic entitlement of Housing Benefit for 18-

21 year olds (with the exception of exempt groups) which takes effect 
in Southampton from April 2017. 

21. This is not an exhaustive list and detail about the impact of some new 
changes are still being assessed as fresh announcements are made (for 
example on 15th September Government announced that the LHA cap will be 
applied to supported housing  in 2019/20) and that the 1% rent reduction will 
also now be required for supported housing. Further announcements from 
Government about future funding beyond 2020 are still awaited and the 
expectation is that consultation will commence by the end of the year.

22. These changes will need to be managed through the life of the contracts and 
providers will be required to work closely with the ICU to respond to changes 
as they emerge.  

Recommendations for Housing Related Services
23. The findings from the review have informed the development of 

commissioning options for adults and young people. As explained earlier in 
this report, the review also identified the need for a more detailed review of 
older person services looking at gaps and the need to link with a wider more 
connected offer for older people.

24. Recommended approach to the provision of Housing Related Support for 
single adults:

 Continue to commission 4 hostel based homeless services providing 
assessment, intensive support and life skills and one dedicated 
alcohol accommodation service.

 Combine a range of community based housing related support 
services into one flexible support service. 

 Commission accommodation based housing support service to people 
with alcohol related housing and support needs

 Combine the resources across a number of separate panels and 
referrals pathways into a single access (Gateway) route into HRS  

 Draw on the use of Collaborative Assessment Panels, led by Adult 
Social Care, to ensure appropriate support to eligible and complex 
vulnerable adults.

Details of the services are outlined in the ‘Commissioning Intentions for Single 
Adults’.

25. Recommended approach to the provision of Housing Related Support for 
young people:

 Continue to commission the accommodation based support services 
to offer HRS services for young people, including care leavers, 
homeless young people and teenage pregnant mothers.

 Develop and increase the offer of supported lodgings through a 
planned approach with commensurate reduction in accommodation Page 216



based services as new supported lodgings become available. 

 Commission a smaller floating support service within other contracts 
to gain improvements and efficiencies  

Details of the services are outlined in the Commissioning Intentions for Young 
People.

26. If recommendations are supported, the procurement process will commence 
in mid-November 2016 following appropriate bidder events being held with 
providers, including the voluntary sector providers. It is envisaged this would 
lead to new contracts commencing on 1 July 2017.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
27.  The current investment in Housing Related Support, which is set out in the 

confidential appendix, covers a range of services including bed-based 
accommodation and support provided to people in a range of different 
settings. A review of HRS has been undertaken recently which represents the 
first opportunity for an integrated approach to commissioning services, of 
which a significant proportion is from voluntary sector providers with the 
majority subject to contract. The model and current levels of investment 
reflects a long tradition and a strong local market.

28.  The work relating to HRS has progressed to the point at which we are able 
to proceed to procurement. The investment in the HRS contracts, which is 
the subject of the above recommendations, is currently invested in housing 
related support through a variety of funding routes for young people, single 
adults and older people.

Property/Other
29. There are no SCC properties within the young people and single adult HRS 

services. Landlords for the majority of properties relating to the provision of 
HRS for young people and adults are provided with the consent of the 
landlords. Where landlords are not in agreement for their properties to 
continue to be used, we will commission services requesting providers secure 
suitable properties to provide the service and ensure all properties meet a 
required quality standard.  

30. Properties relating to the provision of HRS for older people include some City 
Council properties. There are no implications as a result of these 
recommendations.  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
31. Section 2 Localism Act 2011 and various Local Government Acts. Any 

procurement will be governed by EU procurement rules depending on value
Other Legal Implications: 
32. The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 has been given Royal Assent 

although some parts of the Act do not come into force until April 2017 or later. 
It is not clear yet as to the exact implications the Act will have on HRS but 
there is concern that it may result in a reduction of providers which could have 
an adverse effect on the delivery of these proposals.

Page 217



33. When carrying out any public functions the LA must have due regard to the 
public sector equality duty (PSED) under the Equality Act 2010. The LA must 
take into account a number of factors including the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equal opportunity and 
foster good relations. The service user who will benefit from HRS are likely to 
be protected by the PSED and the Human Rights Act 1998 which has a 
similar duties to the PSED. In particular the protection under Article 14 the 
prohibition of discrimination and Article 6 the right to respect private and 
family life.  If the proposals are likely to breach the European Convention on 
Human Rights the Council will need to examine any particular facts and 
determine if such a breach is justified and proportionate. The Council can 
though take into account general economic and policy factors which have led 
the Council to conclude that the proposals are necessary.  This though must 
be balanced against the impact on the service users.

34. The LA has a statutory duty under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998  to  have due regard to the likely effect of exercising various functions on  
crime and disorder and do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and 
disorder in its area.

35. The Council has set out how it has had due regard to its equality and safety 
duties in its Equality and Safety Impact Assessments (ESIAs).

36. The Care Act 2014 imposes various statutory duties on LA’s when exercising 
Adult Social care functions to promote the individuals well-being, prevent 
needs arising and escalating, safeguarding and the duty to provide advice an 
information.  Service users who are provided with HRS may have eligible 
unmet needs for care and support but even if they do not the LA has a 
discretionary power to meet individual’s needs. The Act places various duties 
and responsibilities on Local Authorities about commissioning appropriate 
services.  In particular all Local Authority should encourage a wide range of 
service provision to ensure that people have a choice of appropriate 
services.

37. If the proposals result in a lower level of HRS this may result in some 
individuals failing to manage their tenancy which could increase 
homelessness. Not only would this have a detrimental effect on the individual 
but could increase demand for the Council Homelessness Services. Under 
the Housing Act 1996(as amended) the LA have various statutory duties 
including the duty to provide advice, assistance and accommodation in 
certain circumstances. Including securing accommodation where the 
individual has a local connection, is unintentionally homeless or threatened 
with homelessness and in priority need for accommodation. A person who is 
vulnerable due to old age, mental illness of disability will be regarded as 
being in priority need. We do not currently envisage a lower level of HRS but 
will monitor the changes closely and take action to avoid or minimise any 
impact.

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
38. The recommendations in this paper support the delivery of outcomes in the 

current and refreshed Council Strategy, adopted at Full Council on 21 
September 2016. It also contributes to the current City Strategy and the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Page 218



39. The recommendations in relation to HRS support aims in the new Housing 
Strategy. In particular 

 Housing Options and Support 

o Southampton is a city with a range of housing options and 
support for people with additional needs. 

o Southampton is a city which prevents homelessness and 
provides support for rough sleepers.

o Residents have access to the right information, advice and 
guidance about their housing options.  

KEY DECISION? Yes/No (No if Council)
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
Appendices 
1. Procurement Of Housing Related Support For Young People And Vulnerable 

Adults – confidential appendix
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. ESIA Young People
2. ESIA - Adults
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) to be carried out.

Yes

Privacy Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Privacy Impact
Assessment (PIA) to be carried out.

No

Other Background Documents
Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for inspection 
available for inspection from Sandra Jerrim, email 
Sandra.Jerrim@Southamptoncityccg.nhs.uk
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1. Commissioning intentions: HRS for single adults  Available from 
Sandra.Jerrim@
Southamptoncityccg.nhs.uk

2. Commissioning intentions: HRS for young people Available from 
Sandra.Jerrim@
Southamptoncityccg.nhs.uk

Page 219



Page 220



Document is Confidential

Page 221

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1

by virtue of paragraph number 3 of the Council's Access to information Proceedure Rules



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Solent Combined Authority Governance Review and Scheme
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5

	6 Procurement of Housing Related Support for Young People and Vulnerable Adults
	Confidential Appendix


